STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners, five individuals and one corporation, were charged by information in the Polk County Circuit Court with multiple obscenity violations and with RICO offenses predicated solely upon those obscenity charges. Following an extensive hearing on the defendants' motions, the trial court dismissed the information, on grounds that the Florida obscenity statute, 9847.011, violated the privacy, due process and free speech provisions of the Florida and federal Constitutions, and that the severe penalties threatened by the RICO Act (as applied to obscenity) created an impermissible chilling effect in violation of the First Amendment. The state appealed, and the Second District Court of Appeal reversed and remanded. State v. Long, 544 So.2d 219 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989). Petitioners filed a timely notice with the District Court of Appeal, and filed their Brief on Jurisdiction with this Court on July 18, 1989. This Court issued an order accepting jurisdiction in these consolidated cases on October 10, 1989.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

These RICO/obscenity prosecutions raise the perennial conflict between the citizen's "right to be let alone" and what Senator Sam Ervin has described as government's "insatiable appetite for power." Because such prosecutions under the vague obscenity standard and the threat of the extraordinary penalties imposed by Florida's RICO statutes' violate the free speech, due process, and privacy rights guaranteed by the United States and Florida Constitutions, Petitioners urge this Court to reverse the opinion of the Court of Appeal below and to affirm the trial judge's well-reasoned order dismissing the information.2

The Petitioners' essential contention is that the current censorial campaign, spearheaded by these draconian

² None of this Court's decisions contravene such a result in this case, which in virtually all respects presents issues of first impression. Sardiello v. State, 394 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 1981), for example, relied upon as dispositive by the Court of Appeal, in fact did not address the question of the obscenity laws' violation of the right of privacy under Article I, §23, but simply affirmed its pre-privacy amendment decision in State v. Kraham, 360 So.2d 393 (Fla. 1979), that the obscenity statute did not violate the federal Constitution. Likewise, this Court's decisions in Bowden v. State, 402 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 1981), and Cantrell v. State, 403 So.2d 977 (Fla. 1981), do not address the issue of chilling effect in violation of the First Amendment. Although this Court has upheld the Florida obscenity laws against vagueness challenges, its decisions to this effect are from more than a decade ago, long prior to the social changes Petitioners detail as having further eroded the viability of the obscenity test. See First Amendment Foundation of Florida. Inc. v. State 364 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1978). Subsequent changes such as the "Video Revolution" and its popularization of X-rated films for home viewing require reconsideration of these issues in the light of this altered factual context.

¹ Criminal conviction of RICO exposes the offender, whose only crime may have been the distribution of two popular and commonly-available X-rated videotapes, not only to a potential 30-year prison term, but to virtually automatic forfeiture of the entire bookstore or video store pursuant to the collateral estoppel provisions of §895.05 (2) (c) (8). *Cf. United States v. Pryba*, 674 F.Supp. 1504 (E.D.Va. 1987).

RICO/obscenity prosecutions, is ironically as odds with the greatly increased popularity of erotic materials which are now obviously enjoyed and accepted by millions of adults in Florida as elsewhere. The obscenity laws challenged here patently operate not only to violate the due process and free speech rights of the speaker, but to curtail adults' access to all sexually-oriented materials in violation of their privacy rights. This chilling effect extends to a great many materials which would not offend community standards and would therefore be non-"obscene" even under the amorphous *Miller* test.³

Those community standards have dramatically liberalized in the past decade, as evidenced by the greatly increased popular consumption of adult materials occasioned by the much-heralded "Video Revolution." The Meese Commission itself reported these profound changes in the adult entertainment industry, including the enormous growth of the market for X-rated videos disseminated for home VCR and cable television viewing. *See Attorney General's Commission on Pornography, Final Report* (1986) at 1353-1366. The Meese Report also noted that a majority of the home video retail outlets, estimated to number 27,000 in 1987, distributed sexually-explicit video tapes. *Id.* at 1393-94.

American adults now consume hundreds of millions of erotic films, books, and magazines annually, and the

³ Petitioners further note, in Argument IV, that the definition of obscenity contained in §847.001 fails to conform to federal constitutional standards announced in *Miller* and its progeny, thus rendering the statute overbroad and precluding the prosecution of these defendants.

trend toward greater consumption is expected to continue. This explosion in the VCR medium was first heralded in a spate of national magazine articles in 1984. See "VCRs: Coming on Strong," Time, December 24, 1984, pp. 44-50; "The Crowded New World of TV," Fortune, September 17, 1984, pp. 156-166; "The Video Revolution," Newsweek, August 6, 1984, pp. 50-57. These reports revealed that some 20% of all television homes had VCRs in 1984, and that X-rated video cassettes constituted a 15% share of cassette sales and rentals (see *Time*, *supra*), or over 55 million rentals of adult tapes. By 1986, X-rated video tape rentals exceeded 100 million.⁴ Time again reported on the growing popular enthusiasm for adult videos: "Women account for perhaps 40% of the estimated 100 million rentals of X-rated tapes each year" (Time, March 23, 1987, at 63).

Today, over 65% of American homes have VCRs, according to a Nielsen report cited recently in **Variety** ("VCR Penetration Rises to 65.5%," July 25, 1989, at p.12), and consumption of adult video tapes is estimated to exceed 200 million units this year. "More than 20 million Americans now watch at least 1 blue movie each week," *Newsweek* reported last year (February 1, 1988, at p. 44).

In light of these changed social and cultural realities, Florida's obscenity statutes are unconstitutional for several interrelated reasons. First, under the expansive privacy rights secured by Article I, §23 of the Florida Constitution, such obscenity prosecutions unduly

⁴ Statistics for 1986 reported in "Harper's Index" (see Los Angeles Times, March 1, 1987) indicated 104 million X-rated rentals.

infringe upon the right of Florida's adult citizens to choose freely the books they will read and the films they will view in the privacy of their own homes. This amendment, adopted by the Florida electorate as part of the contemporary groundswell movement in favor of privacy rights, was clearly meant to secure and expand the rights of privacy the United States Supreme Court began to enunciate in the 1960s in cases like Stanley v. Georgia, 394 U.S. 557, 89 S.Ct. 1243, 22 L.Ed.2d 542 (1969). It signifies the public's dissatisfaction with the current Court's retrenchment, limiting the scope of Stanley, which had broadly declared the right of adults to acquire sexuallyoriented information or entertainment, and otherwise narrowly construing the federal right of privacy. See, e.g., Florida v. Riley, U.S. 109 S.Ct. 693, 102 L.Ed.2d 835 (1989).

Obscenity prosecutions dramatically curtail the right of adults to choose sexually-oriented materials for their own entertainment or informational purposes, serve no compelling state interest, and are in any case overlyintrusive means of achieving the state's legitimate objectives such as protecting minors and neighborhoods. The obscenity statutes' negative impact upon privacy rights is aggravated by the other constitutional defects which inhere in these laws as well. The obscenity standards incurable vagueness means that the entire genre of sexually-oriented materials is fair game for prosecution. No one – bookseller, video store operator, police, judge, or jury – has any concrete way of discerning protected erotica from materials which cross the "dim and uncertain line"⁵ into the realm of obscenity. The result is

⁵ See Bantam Books v. Sullivan, 372 U.S. 58, 83 S.Ct. 631, 9 L.Ed.2d 584 (1963).

the threat of prosecution, or in some cases even conviction, for sale or exhibition of media items such as *Playboy* or the film "Carnal Knowledge." *See Council for Periodical Distributors Association* v. *Evans*, 642 F.Supp. 552 (Ala.M.D. 1986); *Playboy* v. *Meese*, 639 F.Supp. 581 (D.D.C. 1986); *Jenkins* v. *Georgia*, 418 U.S. 153, 94 S.Ct. 2750, 41 L.Ed.2d 642 (1974). The uncertainty as to what materials might be prosecuted as "obscenity" inevitably results in self-censorship by all distributors of media items, so that Florida's citizens are denied access to a wide range of materials protected by the First Amendment as well as the state constitutional right of privacy.

With the added factor of the enormous penalties the RICO Act imposes for these unpredictable obscenity violations, including a 30-year maximum prison term, the chilling effect of these statutes becomes an absolute certainty. The RICO Act as applied to this offense is the most harshly punitive obscenity statute in the nation, and has already deterred the dissemination of presumptively-protected materials by those who must "steer far wider of the unlawful zone" as a matter of basic prudence, a censorial result condemned by the Supreme Court in *Speiser v. Randall*, 357 U.S. 513, 526, 78 S.Ct. 1332, 2 L.Ed.2d 1460 (1958), and by this Court in *Ladoga Canning Corp. v. McKenzie*, 370 So.2d 1137 (Fla. 1979). The Brief of *Amici* PHE, Inc., *et al.* concretely demonstrates that this chilling effect is no "mere assertion."

Particularly in view of the Florida electorate's adoption of a strong privacy rights amendment, Petitioners respectfully urge this Court to join the others around the country engaged in a fundamental reassessment of obscenity laws' constitutionality under the free speech and privacy clauses of the state and federal Constitutions. Of the greatest relevance to this case, of course, is *State v*. *Kam*, 748 P.2d 372 (Hawaii 1988), decided the very same day the trial court below issued its order of dismissal, and reaching the identical conclusion: that obscenity laws violate state constitutional guarantees of the right to privacy, under the rationale of *Stanley v. Georgia*.

The Hawaii Supreme Court decision came not long after the Supreme Court of Oregon had reached a similar result in *State v. Henry*, 302 Or. 510, 732 P.2d 9 (Or. 1986), striking down the Oregon obscenity statute on grounds that it violated the free speech clause of the state constitution, materially identical to Art. I, §4 of the Florida Constitution. (On this alternative basis, the Oregon Court affirmed the result reached by the state Court of Appeals in that case, 78 Or.App. 392, 717 P.2d 189 (1986), concluding the *Miller* obscenity test was unconstitutionally vague.)

Most recently, on November 8, 1989, the Superior Court of Yuma County, Arizona has followed *Henry* and *Kam* in declaring the Arizona obscenity statute unconstitutional under the state free speech clause, Article II, §6, in *State v. Smith* (Case No. 15865; *see* Order Granting Motion to Dismiss, included in the Appendix to this brief).

These social and legal changes, Petitioners respectfully submit, mandate this Court's careful reexamination of the "obscenity" question, and invalidation of all these censorial statutes under the relevant provisions of the Florida and federal Constitutions. To do so would leave intact the state's ability to protect appropriate interests, while at the same time vindicating the fundamental privacy rights of adult citizens. The two interests can co-exist, and by enacting Article I, §23, Florida's electorate has said they must.

I.

THE FLORIDA OBSCENITY STATUTES VIOLATE THE RIGHT TO PRIVACY CREATED BY ART. I, §23 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

"[T]he right to be let alone [is] the most comprehensive of rights and the right most valued by civilized men."⁶

This case involves the tension between that right and what then-Senator Samuel J. Ervin, Jr. described as government's "insatiable appetite for power." Indeed, in reflecting upon the Privacy Act of 19747 some ten years after its enactment, Senator Ervin made an observation which is remarkably appropriate to the situation before this Court:

"The Privacy Act, if enforced, would be a pretty good thing. But the government doesn't like it. Government has an insatiable appetite for power, and will not stop usurping power unless it is restrained by laws they cannot repeal or nullify."⁸

⁶ Olmstead v. United States, 277 U.S. 438, 478 (1928).

⁷ Pub. L. 93-579, 88 Stat. 1896, 5 U.S.C.§552a (West 1977)

⁸ D. Burnham, The Rise of the Computer State (N.Y.Vantage 1984).

Florida voters clearly enacted Article I, §23 for exactly that reason – they wanted a law that the state government "cannot repeal or nullify."

The solid 60% majority of Floridians who voted in favor of the passage of Article I, §23⁹ clearly intended that such a "right to be let alone" be permanently added to the Florida Constitution¹⁰ – a right which the Florida state government, in this case, is seriously attempting to erode.

As evidenced by its vigorous enforcement in this Court's very recent decisions, *In re:* T.W., ____So.2d ____, 14 F.L.W. 497 (Fla. Oct. 5, 1989), and *Shaktman v. State*, _____So.2d ____, 14 F.L.W. 522 (Fla. Oct. 12, 1989), the right to privacy is at the forefront of the current constitutional agenda. In these times of ever-expanding computer and surveillance technology, and correspondingly diminished individual privacy, *cf. Florida v. Riley*, ____ U.S. ___, 109 S.Ct. 693, 102 L.Ed.2d 835 (1989), *rev'g.* 511 So.2d 282 (Fla. 1987), the citizens of Florida have joined the groundswell of other Americans in clamoring for bulwarks against the

⁹ G. Cope, A Quick Look at Florida's New Right of Privacy, 55 Fla. B.J. 12 (1981).

¹⁰ Given the opportunity, voters have demonstrated a propensity to protect the right to acquire erotica, as in the state of Maine, where there is no state anti-obscenity law. In 1976, Maine voted on a ballot proposition that an anti-obscenity law be added to the books. It was highly publicized and the subject of vigorous media campaigns by proponents of both sides of the question. The proposition was trounced; by a roughly two-to-one margin, voters rejected the proposal to add a law regulating acquisition of erotica where only consenting adults are involved.

continued erosion of that fundamental right – the right to be left alone in the conduct of their personal affairs and intimate decision-making. This expanding governmental intrusion into virtually every realm of life, and the countervailing demands of the citizenry for greater safeguards of personal autonomy, have spawned the popular enactment of the privacy amendment to Florida's Constitution, Art. I, §23, in addition to the wide array of federal and state legislation securing privacy rights in areas such as personal financial and health information, telephone conversations, and of particular relevance, sexual conduct.

This Court has properly recognized the expansive scope of the privacy guarantee, first in *Winfield v. Division* of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, **477** So.2d **544**, **548** (Fla. **1985**):

"The citizens of Florida opted for more protection from governmental intrusion when they approved article I, section 23, of the Florida Constitution. This amendment is an independent, freestanding constitutional provision which declares the fundamental right to privacy. Article I, section 23 was intentionally phrased in strong terms. The drafters of the amendment rejected the use of the words 'unreasonable' or 'unwarranted' before the phrase 'govermental intrusion' in order to make the privacy right as strong as possible. Since the people of this state exercised their prerogative and enacted an amendment to the Florida Constitution which expressly and succinctly provides for a strong right of privacy not found in the United States Constitution, it can only be concluded that the right is much broader in scope than that of the Federal Constitution."

Quoting this passage in the T.W. case, this Court again emphasized that "the amendment embraces more privacy interests, and extends more protection to the individual in those interests, than does the federal Constitution." (Slip opinion at 8.)

The present case involves a right of privacy which the U.S. Supreme Court essentially recognized in *Stanley* p. Georgia, 394 U.S. 557, 89 S.Ct. 1243, 22 L.Ed.2d 542 (1969): the right of adults" to choose the expressive materials they wish to read or view, free from governmental interdiction on the basis of the "obscene" nature of those materials. Stanley, the second of the Court's landmark privacy decisions, built upon the privacy doctrine established in Griswold D. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479, 85 S.Ct. 1678, 14 L.Ed.2d 510 (1965), and affirmed the right to possess even "obscene" erotic materials for private enjoyment. Subsequently, a bitterly-divided Supreme Court in a series of 5-4 decisions has given Stanley a very restrictive interpretation in construing the right to privacy under the federal Constitution. The Hawaii Supreme Court, however, applying a state constitutional privacy guarantee materially identical to Art. I, §23, rejected that "crabbed approach" to the privacy rights recognized in

¹¹ Petitioners emphasize that their argument in this regard extends only to the right of *willing* adults to read and view materials likewise depicting only consenting adults. They acknowledge, as did the Hawaii Supreme Court in *State v. Kam*, **748** P.2d **372**, 380 n.2 (1988), that entirely different concerns are raised by child pornography, depictions involving coercion of a participant, and the exposure of sexually-oriented materials to minors or unwilling adults. The conceded validity of specific, narrowly-drawn legislation addressing these evils does not negate, but rather reinforces, Petitioners' arguments against the much broader obscenity laws at issue here, with their extremely detrimental impact on the privacy rights of consenting adults.

Stanley, and declared Hawaii's criminal obscenity laws unconstitutional. *State v. Kam*, 748 P.2d 372 (Hawaii 1988). The same result is mandated under the Florida Constitution.

A. The Evolution of the Law of Privacy.¹²

In 1888, Judge Thomas M. Cooley's treatise noted for the first time a "right to be let alone," planting the seed for the legal profession's interest in a right of **privacy**.¹³ On the heels of that treatise came the much-quoted Warren and Brandeis article which to this day is recognized as the cornerstone of tort privacy law.¹⁴

"Today, many **p**sychologists and sociologists are . . . inclined [toward] . . . broad definitions [of privacy] – of which the following are illustrative:

" 'A person's feeling that others should be excluded from something which is of concern to him, and also recognition that others have a right to do this.' [A. Bates, "Privacy – A Useful Concept? 42 Social Forces 432 (1964)]....

"Such definitions have two common features: the equation of privacy with withdrawal, or the desire to be withdrawn, from public affairs and the assumption that privacy is voluntary and essentially involves individual self-control."

¹³ T. Cooley, TORTS at 91 (2nd Ed. 1888).

¹⁴ S. Warren & L. Brandeis, "The Right to Privacy," 4 Harv.L.Rev. 193 (1890).

¹² Consistent with the legal approach, fundamental psychological and sociological definitions of privacy have common features including "the assumption that privacy is voluntary and essentially involves individual self-control." D. O'Brien, Privacy Law and Public Policy at p. 6 (Praeger 1979):

Warren and Brandeis recognized that material changes in social conditions had brought about the need for recognition of more broadly defined rights:

"Political, social and economic changes entail the recognition of new rights, and the common law, in its eternal youth, grows to meet the demands of society . . . gradually, the scope of [recognized] legal rights broaden; and now the right to life has come to mean the right to enjoy life, – the right to be let alone; the right to liberty secures the exercise of extensive civil privileges; and the term 'property' has grown to comprise every form of possession – intangible, as well as tangible."¹⁵

By the end of the nineteenth century, property, privacy and individualism had closely related or interdependent meanings.¹⁶ Meanwhile, the Constitutional right to privacy was being read into the Bill of Rights, Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616, 6 S.Ct. 524, 29 L.Ed. 746 (1886) and applied to the States. Meyer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390, 43 S.Ct. 625, 67 L.Ed. 1042 (1923).

Thereafter, the law of privacy evolved largely in the areas of the right to tort recovery and the right to be free from unreasonable search and seizure in the criminal context. In 1964, a much-cited article by Edward Bloustein explained how the various principles of privacy emanate from the same right:

¹⁵ Id. at 193.

¹⁶ E. Schils, "Privacy: Its Constitution and Vicissitudes, 31 LAW AND CONTEMPORARY PROBLEMS 281, 290-91.

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