OA 1-10.90

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DA

OEC 2 1 1989

TOMMIE LYNN STALL, TODD EDWARD LONG, et al.,

Petitioners,

Case No. 74,020 & 74,390

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

PEGGY A. QUINCE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar Number 261041
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal in State v. Long, 544 So.2d 219 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), correctly held that the Florida obscenity statute, Section 847.011, Florida Statutes, does not violate any constitutional principles. Respondent, however, still asserts that the petitioners have no standing to challenge this statute based on the privacy rights of potential customers. Such customers can in fact raise their own privacy interest should they be arrested attempting to purchase these materials.

Particularly, the statute does not violate Florida's Constitutional right to privacy. Although Article I, Section 23, Florida Constitution, does give the citizens of Florida broader privacy protection than does the federal right, that provision does not give one an absolute immunity from governmental intrusion. The right of persons to be let alone in their private lives does not extend to public places. Even assuming, arguendo, the statute affects the privacy rights of petitioners' customers, the State has a compelling interest in curtailing the widespread dissemination of obscene materials, and the government has chosen the least intrusion means possible to exercise that compelling importantly, the right to privacy is interest. More implicated by this statute since petitioners customers do not enjoy a reasonable expectation of privacy in the commercial establishment.

The Second District's ruling that the statute was not vague is likewise correct. The statute defines the prohibited conduct

with sufficient definiteness so that citizens can understand what conduct is prohibited. Both this court and other district courts have rejected challenges to this statute based on vagueness. See, Rhodes v. State, 283 So.2d 351 (Fla. 1973) and Haggerty v. State, 531 So.2d 364 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

This Court in Bowden v. State, 402 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 1981), rejected the claim that the RICO (Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organization) statute could not be used with an obscenity In keeping with this court's ruling the United prosecution. States Supreme Court in Fort Wayne Books, Inc. v. Indiana, 489 U.S. ____, 109 S.Ct. 916, 103 L.Ed.2d 34 (1989), indicated the fact that some booksellers may remove other materials from the shelves does not render an obscenity statute unconstitutional or make obscenity prosecution under а RICO statute unconstitutional. Additionally, the potential for more severe penalties does not make the statute unconstitutional.

The Second District also properly found Section 847.011, Florida Statutes, defines and describes terms in a manner consistent with the United States Supreme Court standards as outlined in Miller v. California, 413 U.S. 15, 93 S.Ct. 2607, 37 L.Ed.2d 419 (1973), and the statute should be read to include the clarification made by the court in Pope v. Illinois, 481 U.S. 497, 107 S.Ct. 1918, 95 L.Ed.2d 439 (1987).

The serious value prong of the obscenity determination must be made in light of the reasonable man standard. This reasonable man is the standard to be applied by the jury to the evidence; it is not an element of the crimes. The Second District Court of Appeal correction held that the Florida obscenity statute, Section 847.011, was and is constitutional.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

SECTION 847.011, FLORIDA STATUTES, THE FLORIDA OBSCENITY STATUTE, DOES NOT VIOLATE THE RIGHT TO PRIVACY UNDER ARTICLE I, SECTION 23 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

The petitioners argue that the Florida obscenity law violates the constitutional right to privacy because their potential customers would have difficulty in obtaining obscene materials for use at home. Respondent submits no privacy rights are implicated by the State's regulation of obscenity in public places, and Respondent submits these petitioners have no standing to assert the privacy rights, if any, of others. Thus, the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal, State v. Long, 544 So.2d 219 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), on the privacy issue should be affirmed based on a lack of standing by these petitioners and on the basis that no right to privacy is involved. Additionally, if a right to privacy is implicated by the statute, the State's compelling interest in stopping the widespread dissemination of obscene materials outweighs that right.

The right to privacy is embodied in the Florida Constitution as a result of constitutional amendment passed by the electorate on November 4, 1980. That amendment, Article I, Section 23, provides:

823. Right of privacy

Every natural person has the right to be let alone and free from governmental intrusion into his private life except as otherwise provided herein. This section shall not be construed to limit the public's right to

access to public records and meetings as provided by law. (emphasis added)

It is clear from a plain reading of the constitutional provision that the right to privacy is one which exists only for human beings, not artificial or juristic persons. Petitioner, CMH Enterprises, is a corporation not a natural person. To the extent that entity is asserting any privacy right, one exists.

Respondent also submits that CMH Enterprises and the other petitioners don't have standing to challenge or assert the constitutional right to privacy, even if one exists under the circumstances of this case, of any past, present or future commercial customers. Both the state and federal courts have generally held that constitutional rights are personal and cannot be vicariously asserted by others. A party who may have a statute constitutionally applied to him/her cannot validly challenge that statute on the ground that it unconstitutionally applied to someone else or some situation not before the court. See, Broadrick v. Oklahoma, 413 U.S. 601, 93 S.Ct. 2908, 37 L.Ed.2d 830, 837 (1973); Sandstrom v. Leader, 370 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1979) and Gardner v. Bradenton Herald, Inc., 413 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1982).

Respondent recognizes that exceptions to this general rule have been made by the courts where individuals who are not parties stand to lose rights but have no effective avenue to preserve their rights themselves. See, e.g., NAACP v. Alabama, 357 U.S. 449, 78 S.Ct. 1163, 2 L.Ed.2d 1488 (1958). The exception has been applied in the first amendment area when a statute is challenged on grounds of overbreadthness. Dombrowski v. Pfister,

380 U.S.479, 85 S.Ct. 1116, 14 L.Ed.2d 22 (1965) and State v. Saiez, 489 So.2d 1125, 1127 n. 2 (Fla. 1986). In the right to privacy arena, the exception was applied on the issue of dissemination of contraceptives. See, Eisenstadt v. Baird, 405 U.S. 438, 92 S.Ct. 1029, 31 L.Ed.2d 349 (1972) and Griswold v. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479, 85 S.Ct. 1678, 14 L.Ed.2d 510 (1965).

The Second District held these petitioner's had standing to assert the privacy rights of their customers because enforcement of the statute substantially impairs the customers ability to obtain obscene material. While potential customers have a right to possess obscene material in the privacy of their own homes pursuant to the court's pronouncement in Stanley v. Georgia, 394 U.S. 557, 89 S.Ct. 1243, 22 L.Ed.2d 543 (1969), that right does not translate into a duty on the State or government to provide the public with a place to obtain these materials. Cf. United States v. Thirty-seven Photographs, 402 U.S. 363, 91 S.Ct. 1400, 28 L.Ed.2d 822 (1971).

If we assume, for the sake of argument, that petitioners have the standing to assert the privacy interest of their customers, petitioners have failed to demonstrate any privacy right exists under these circumstances or that any privacy rights have been violated. It is undisputed that obscenity is not entitled to the full protection of the First Amendment. Roth v. United States, 354 U.S. 476, 77 S.Ct. 1304, 1 L.Ed.2d 1498 (1957). The court in Roth recognized that the states and government have a valid interest in dealing with the problem of obscenity. However, States must exercise caution in regulating

obscene materials; the conduct proscribed by the statute must be specially described in the statute as written or as authoritatively construed. Miller v. California, 413 U.S. 15, 93 S.Ct. 2607, 37 L.Ed.2d 419 (1973).

Because of the very nature of one's home being sacrosanct, the Supreme Court held that a person has the right to possess Stanley v. obscene material in the privacy of his/her own home. 1969). The Georgia, 394 U.S. 557, 89 S.Ct. 1243, 22 L.Ed.2d 543 district court also indicated that the right to privacy, however, even the right to privacy as interpreted under the Florida Constitution, does not extend to the purchase of obscene materials in public commercial establishments, the right to privacy is not implicated in this situation. In reaching this conclusion the district court relied on this Court's opinion in Winfield v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, 477 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 1985). In Winfield this Court stated:

However, before the right of privacy is attached and the delineated standard applied, a reasonable expectation of privacy must exist. Thus, implicit within the question of whether article I, section 23 of the Florida Constitution prevents the Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering from subpoening a Florida citizen's bank records without notice, is the threshold question of whether the law recognizes an individual's legitimate expectation of privacy in financial records.

Before the right of privacy would attach, sub *judice*, petitioners must demonstrate their customers enjoy a reasonable expectation of privacy in the commercial establishment containing the obscene materials and/or a reasonable expectation of privacy in the materials themselves.

The lower court correctly found that petitioners' customers had no such expectation of privacy, and therefore no privacy right of their under the constitutional provision was implicated. Generally, one can show an expectation of privacy if he/she can demonstrate ownership or lawful possession or control of property Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 99 S.Ct. 421, 58 or premises. L.Ed.2d 387 (1978) and Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 88 S.Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed.2d 576 (1967). There has been no showing that any of petitioner's past, present or future customers can claim any ownership or possessory rights in the Varsity Theatre, a public commercial establishment, thus no expectation of privacy. See, Paris Adult Theatre I v. Slaton, 413 U.S. 49, 93 S.Ct. 2628, 37 L.Ed.2d 446, 463 (1973), wherein the Supreme Court indicated that activity which enjoys privacy protection in the home does not carry with it an expectation of privacy when done in a public forum.

Petitioners rely heavily in their privacy argument on the decision of the Hawaii Supreme Court in State v. Kam, 748 P.2d 372 (Haw. 1988). Hawaii, like Florida, has a specific constitutional provision on the right to privacy, Article I, Section 6 of the Hawaii Constitution. The defendants in Kam sold magazines which the State alleged to be obscene to undercover officers. The court found that the statute prohibiting the sell of obscene material was a violation of the right to privacy. However, it is clear from a carefully reading of the Kam opinion that the Hawaii Supreme Court, unlike this Court, has not determined that a reasonable expectation of privacy must be shown

before the right to privacy attaches and the compelling state interest standard is applied. That court simply without more states because you have a right to possess obscenity in your home, you have a corresponding right to purchase it. Such a statement flies in the face of the teaching of <u>Paris Adult Theatre I v. Slaton</u>, supra.

The district court stated and respondent agrees that the right to privacy as embodied in Article I, Section 23, Florida Constitution, affords the citizens of this State a greater privacy protection than does the United States Constitution. See, Winfield v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, supra. "This constitutional provision was not intended to provide an absolute guarantee against all governmental intrusion into the private life of an individual." Florida Board of Examiners Re: Applicant, 443 So.2d 71 (Fla. 1983). These principles were recently reiterated by this Court in In Re: T.W., 14 F.L.W. 531 (Fla., Case No. 74,143, Opinion filed October 5, 1989) and Shaktman v. State, 14 F.L.W. 522 (Fla., Case No. 72,272, Opinion filed October 12, 1989).

Although this Court found that the right to privacy was implicated in both <u>T.W.</u> and <u>Shaktman</u>, those cases are both factual and legally distinguishable from the instant case. In <u>T.W.</u> the issue there was whether a state law requiring a minor to get parental consent before obtaining an abortion or convince a judge that she is either mature enough to make the decision herself or that the abortion is in her best interest violates the right to privacy as outlined in the Florida Constitution. The

primarily inquiry of whether the minor enjoyed a reasonable expectation of privacy in her own body needs no further discussion. In holding that the statute did violate the right to privacy, this Court said, quoting from Thornburgh v. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, 476 U.S. 747, 106 S.Ct. 2169, 90 L.Ed.2d 779 (1986), "The Florida Constitution embodies the principle that "[f]ew decisions are more personal and intimate, more properly private, or more basic to individual dignity and autonomy, than a woman's decision ... whether to end her pregnancy. A woman's right to make that choice freely is fundamental."" It is indeed difficult to conceive of any thing that is more personal or private than one's own body.

Similarly, in <u>Shaktman</u> the issue involved pen registers on the telephone at the defendant's home. As with <u>Stanley v.</u> <u>Georgia</u>, <u>supra</u>, a man's home, his castle, was being violated. Again, there can be no doubt that a person must have some expectation of privacy in the contents of his telephone conversations had from his home, including the telephone numbers that are dialed or otherwise transmitted. The gathering of this private information by the government affected that home privacy.

In both instances this Court found that there were reasonable expectations of privacy, thus implicating the constitutional right to privacy voted on by the good people of the State of Florida. However, in the instant case, as indicated above, the petitioners' customers have no such reasonable expectation. We do not need to reach the constitutional privacy issue.

While maintaining there was no expectation of privacy hence no violation of constitutional right to privacy, it should be noted that the State has a compelling interest in curtailing the distribution of obscene materials. Even where there is a right to privacy affected by a particular statute, the individual's right to privacy must be considered in the context of the state's compelling interest in the area regulated. Sub judice, the trial court made no attempt to balance these interests. The State of Florida by enactment of Chapter 847 has determined the widespread making and dissemination of obscene materials are not in the public interest and the State has a compelling interest in halting that distribution. States are free to make that determination concerning obscenity in their communities. See, Paris Adult Theatre I v. Slaton, supra.

Balanced on the other hand is an individual's right to possess these obscene materials in the privacy of his home. Section 847.011 does not purport to control or restrict home possession of the types of obscene material involved in this case. Compare, State v. Edmond, 1989 W.L. 111500 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1989), where the court held the government's interest in preventing the exploitation of child was of "surpassing importance", thus a statute making it illegal to possess child pornography in the home does not violate the right to privacy. Accord, People v. Duboy, 540 N.Y.S.2d 905 (N.Y.A.D. 1989); State v. Davis, 768 P.2d 499 (Wash. Ct. App. 1989) and People v. Geever, 522 N.E.2d 1200 (Ill. 1988). The statute is aimed at the making and distribution of obscene items. The statute complies

with the requirements of <u>Winfield v. Division of Pari-Mutuel</u> <u>Wagering</u>, *supra*, in that it regulates an area in which the State has a compelling interest and accomplishes the goal of reducing dissemination of obscene materials in the least intrusive manner possible.

This Court has on other occasions upheld this statute against various other constitutional attacks. In <u>Johnson v.</u>

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